IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 1 1998

PAULINE ZILE

Petitioner,

CASE NO: 93, 289 (4th DCA Case No: 95-2252) CLERK, SURPEME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

RICHARD G. BARTMON, ESQ. Attorney for Petitioner Law Offices of Bartmon & Bartmon, P.A. 1515 North Federal Highway Suite 300 Boca Raton, FL 33432 (561) 392-7782 Fla. Bar No: 337791

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this Brief, PAULINE ZILE, will be referred to as "Petitioner" and the STATE OF FLORIDA as "Respondent".

"A" will refer to the attached Appendix and "e.a." will mean "emphasis added".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner filed a direct appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal from her convictions for first-degree felony murder and three counts of aggravated child abuse in the Circuit Court, Palm Beach County, Florida. A1. Among her claims on appeal, Mrs. Zile challenged the use by the State of her immunized statement to indict and convict her, in violation of her Fifth Amendment rights against self-incrimination and the decision in <u>Kastigar v. United States</u>, 92 S.Ct. 1653 (1972). A,1-4.

Mrs. Zile specifically argued that Florida's immunity statute, Section 914.04, was invalid under Florida's Constitutional provisions against self-incrimination and the right to privacy. A,2,3. In its opinion of May 20, 1998 affirming all but one of Mrs. Zile's convictions, A,2,3, the Fourth District panel expressly rejected these challenges to the statute. A2,3; See also, Zile v. State, 23 Fla.L.Weekly 1232, 1232-1235 (Fla. 4th DCA, May 20, 1998). The panel also concluded that Florida's Constitutional privacy provision did not apply to Petitioner because she had no "legitimate expectation of privacy" in her immunized statement. A,2. The appeals court further decided that the "broader" language of Florida's Constitutional right against self-incrimination, compared to the Fifth Amendment, did not require greater protection for a criminal defendant than

required under the Kastigar decision. A,2,3.

Petitioner timely filed her Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on June 18, 1998. (A,8,9).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court should accept jurisdiction in this case on the basis of both 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i) and (a)(2)(A)(ii), Fla.R.App.Proc. The Fourth District's express rejection of Petitioner's challenge to the Constitutional validity of a state statute creates a basis for discretionary jurisdiction. The decision by the Fourth District also expressly construed Florida's Constitutional provision against self-incrimination, creating an additional jurisdictional basis for this Court to accept this case.

ARGUMENT

I.

THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION
BASED ON FOURTH DISTRICT'S EXPRESS DECLARATION OF VALIDITY OF
STATE'S USE IMMUNITY STATUTE AND EXPRESS CONSTRUCTION OF
FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION

This Court's discretionary jurisdiction is properly invoked to review a District Court of Appeal decision which "expressly declare(s) valid a state statute". Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla.Const. (1980); Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i), Fla.R.App.Pro. (1998); Libertarian Party of Florida v. Smith, 687 So.2d 1292, 1293 (Fla. 1996); Brown v. State, 629 So.2d 841, 842 (Fla. 1994); State v. Tal-Mason, 515 So.2d 738 (Fla. 1987). A close examination of the District Court's analysis and ruling on Petitioner's challenge to the Constitutional validity of Florida's use immunity statute, A,2,3, demonstrates such a basis for jurisdiction in this case.

The Fourth District expressly quoted Section 914.04, <u>Fla.Stat.</u>, which provides that witnesses compelled by subpoena to give testimony in a criminal "investigation" or "proceeding" are not excused from such testimony because it may be self-incriminating. A,2;Section 914.04, <u>supra</u>. This statute requires that under such circumstances of compelled testimony, "....no testimony so given or evidence so produced shall be received against the person upon any criminal investigation or proceeding". A,2, <u>quoting</u> Section 914.04 in its entirety. The Fourth District panel expressly and specifically

observed that Petitioner challenged this statute as unconstitutional in several material ways, characterizing her arguments as follows:

Appellant also asserts that this statute violates Florida's constitution because it provides only use immunity and not transactional immunity......

$X \quad X \quad X \quad X \quad X$

Appellant argues that <u>Florida's constitutional right to privacy somehow requires transactional immunity</u>.....Appellant also seeks to draw a distinction between <u>Florida's constitution</u> and the <u>federal constitution</u> by pointing out slight differences in wording in the <u>constitutions' self-incrimination provisions</u>.

A,2,3, (e.a.)

The court observed that under <u>Kastigar</u>, a state statute need not convey transactional immunity to be valid. A,2-3, <u>quoting and citing Kastigar</u>. The panel described the legislative change in Section 914.04 in 1982 which amended the statute's scope from transactional immunity, "to only use and derivative use immunity". A,3. The court then specifically concluded that Florida's Constitution did not protect Pauline Zile because she did not have a "legitimate expectation of privacy" in her statements. A,3. The panel further explicitly stated that while Florida's Constitutional provision against self-incrimination was "broader" in language than the Fifth Amendment, it did not require that statutory immunity be transactional in nature. A,3.

The District Court plainly and definitely regarded Petitioner's arguments as a challenge to the validity of a state statute and rejected them as such A,2,3. The panel

unquestionably concluded that 914.04 was not Unconstitutional based on Petitioner's arguments, A,2,3, even though the opinion had no language overtly upholding this law. In Libertarian Party of Florida v. Smith, 687 So.2d, supra, at 1293, this Court accepted jurisdiction observing that the First District had declared a state statute valid, citing Libertarian Party of Florida v. Smith, 665 So.2d 1119 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). In the First District's opinion, the panel noted the appellant's challenge to the Constitutionality of a statute and concluded that "we reject appellant's contention and affirm" the trial court's ruling". Smith, 665 So.2d, supra, at 1120. In Brown, 629 So.2d, supra, at 81, this Court accepted jurisdiction because the First District "considered the Constitutionality" of a state law and "found the statute Constitutional". In Brown v. State, 610 So.2d 1356, 1357 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), the First District characterized the appellant's argument as "urging the Unconstitutionality" of a state law, and decided that "... we reject Appellant's argument that the subject statute is Unconstitutional and ... we affirm Appellant's conviction and sentence". The Court never expressly stated that the statute at issue was Constitutional. Brown, 610 So.2d, supra, 1357-1359. More recently in Ilkanic v. City of Ft. Lauderdale, 705 So.2d 1371, 1372 (Fla. 1998), this Court accepted jurisdiction based on the Fourth District's declaration of statutory validity, where the Fourth District panel held that the statute in question "... is not constitutionally infirm on due process grounds or for any of the other reasons cited by the lower court". City of Ft. Lauderdale v. Ilkanic, 683 So.2d 563, 564 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). In the District Court's ruling in Tal-Mason v. State, 492 So.2d 1179 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), the majority disagreed with the trial

court's invalidation of a state statute and reversed this ruling. Now-Justice Anstead observed that the majority's decision "....expressly declares a state statute valid as against a constitutional challenge so that (Appellant therein) may seek discretionary review in the Florida Supreme Court". <u>Tal-Mason</u>, 492 So.2d, at 1183 (Anstead, J., specially concurring opinion). This Court then <u>accepted</u> jurisdiction, characterizing the lower court's ruling as a declaration of statutory validity. <u>Tal-Mason</u>, 515 So.2d, <u>supra</u>, at 738.

Thus, the Fourth District's ruling cannot be logically viewed in any way but as an "express declaration" that Section 914.04 is <u>Constitutionally valid</u>. <u>Id</u>; <u>see also</u>, <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980)(where majority defined term "express" as "to give expression to", or "to represent in words", citing dictionary references); Webster's New 20th Century Dictionary 647 (2nd ed. 1964)(defining "expressly" as "in an express manner; plainly; in direct terms"); Webster's New International Dictionary 899 (2nd ed. 1934)("express" is defined as "to make known the opinions or feelings of"). Any contrary reading or construction of the opinion here would be unreasonably myopic and technical.¹

This Court should also exercise discretionary jurisdiction in this case because the decision by the Fourth District "expressly construe(d) a provision of the state or federal constitution". Article V, Section(3)(b)(3), supra; Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii),

6

¹ Even the Florida Law Weekly editors, in their breakdown of the various rulings in the <u>Zile</u> case, characterized the Fourth District's ruling on this issue as "<u>Statute not unconstitutional</u> for failure to provide transactional immunity as opposed to use immunity". <u>Zile</u>, 23 Fla.L.Weekly, <u>supra</u>, at 1232. (e.a.)

Fla.R.App.Proc. (1998); Melbourne v. State, 679 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1996). The Fourth District's decision explicitly referred to the language of Article I, Section 9, Fla.Const., quoting that portion of Florida's self-incrimination provision which "....prohibits compelling a person to incriminate himself or herself 'in any criminal matter'". A,3. Upon noting this language "is worded broader" than the Fifth Amendment's language (also quoted by the panel, A,3), the Fourth District concluded that the state Constitution's language did not require Florida's immunity statute to confer transactional immunity. A,3.

This holding thus served to "explain", "define" and "eliminate existing doubts" raised by Petitioner before the Fourth District about the language of Article I, Section 9.

A,3. Armstrong v. City of Tampa, 106 So.2d 407, 409 (Fla. 1958); see also Melbourne, 679 So.2d, supra, at 762 (where this Court accepted jurisdiction based on District Court's construction of state Constitutional provision, citing Melbourne v. State, 655 So.2d 126 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995); see Melbourne, 655 So.2d, supra at 127, where District Court discussed issue of prosecutorial exercise of peremptories to strike minority jurors under Neil v. State, (citation omitted); In re: Dubreuil, 629 So.2d 819, 820, n.1 (Fla. 1993)(where this Court accepted jurisdiction, based on express construction by Fourth District of state Constitutional right to privacy, citing Dubreuil, 603 So.2d 538 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), where District Court analyzed issue of whether ordering blood transfusions to save child's life over objections of her mother, a Jehovah's Witness, was a violation of state Constitutional right of privacy.) The Zile ruling went well beyond mere application

of a state Constitutional provision, or a ruling inherently involving Article I, Section 9. Rojas v. State, 288 So.2d 234, 236 (Fla. 1973); Ogle v. Pepin, 273 So.2d 391, 392 (Fla. 1973).

This Court should exercise its jurisdiction in this case to decide the merits of whether Section 914.04 affords protection to as great a degree as the scope of a witness' Florida Constitutional rights against self-incrimination and privacy. Committee Notes, 1977 Amendment, Rule 9.120, Fla.R.App.Proc. As the Fourth District noted, Florida amended its immunity statute from transactional to use and derivative use protection in 1982. A,3. Since 1982, at least five other states have invalidated similar use/derivative use immunity statutes as Unconstitutional under state Constitutional rights against selfincrimination, including two such rulings within the last five years. State v. Thrift, 440 S.E. 2d 341, 350-352 (S.C. 1993); State v. Gonzalez, 853 P.2nd 526, 528-533 (Alaska 1993), Wright v. McAdory, 536 So.2d 897, 903-904 (Miss. 1988); State v. Soriano, 684 P.2nd 1220, 1232-1234 (1984), aff'd, 693 P.2d 26 (1984); Attorney General v. Colleton, 444 N.E.2nd 915, 918-921 (Mass. 1982). These conclusions were reached upon comprehensive review in each case of the respective state's legislative history and judicial treatment of the right against self-incrimination, as well as practical concerns and doubts that use and/or derivative use immunity realistically protected these rights. Id.

Three other states have construed use/derivative use immunity laws as Constitutional only because the statute contained procedural and substantive safeguards not contained in Florida's immunity law. State v. Ely, 1997 Vt LEXIS 286, *22-28

(Vermont Sup.Ct., December 19, 1997)(when court upheld state law because it prohibited, inter alia, use of immunized statement for "any purpose", required State to prove evidence was obtained from independent source by proof beyond reasonable doubt, and because State can be compelled by trial court to "can" all evidence obtained so that witness could effectively challenge possible illegal use of immunized statement as violation of Constitutional rights); Commonwealth v. Swinehart, 664 A.2nd 957, 961-969 (Pa. 1995)(where state Supreme Court held that while state immunity statute was consistent with state Constitution, state's Constitutional privacy interests required that state meet its burden to prove "independent source" by "clear and convincing evidence"); State v. Strong, 542 A.2nd 86, 869-872 (N.J. 1988)(where state's highest court imposed same burden upon State as in Swinehart, supra, concluding that State's protection of right against self-incrimination, including state Constitutional privacy interest, was broader than Fifth Amendment).

As these eight other state courts have done, this Court should address the scope of Article I, Section 9 and 23, <u>Fla.Constitution</u>, based on an examination of this state's legislative and judicial history and decide if Florida's immunity statute (Section 914.04) is Constitutionally consistent with that scope.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court accept jurisdiction in this case, based on a finding of statutory validity and/or construction of a state Constitutional provision by the Fourth District, and enter an Order directing the parties to file briefs on the merits.