IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED CASE NO. 93, 289

SID J. WHITE

JULI 16 19961

PAULINE ZILE,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MELYNDA L. MELEAR

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 765570 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard Suite 300 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant and Respondent was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida. Petitioner was the appellant, and Respondent was the appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as the Petitioner or the Defendant and the Respondent or the State.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent relies on the facts set out in the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion (Appendix 1-7). In the opinion, the court noted in response to Petitioner's claim that her fifth amendment rights had been violated by the use of her immunized statement, "However, the privilege against self-incrimination does not deprive the state of the authority to compel statements that may be incriminating, as long as the state grants immunity," citing to Kasitgar v. United States, 406 U.S. 441, 448 (1972) (A. 2).

It then addressed Petitioner's claim that her Florida constitutional rights had been violated because section 941.04, Florida Statutes, provides use immunity and not transactional immunity (A. 2). Again citing to Kastigar, the court stated that the State is not required to offer transactional immunity (A. 2). The Fourth District cited to Florida opinions and said that transactional immunity is a creature of statute "and does not implicate any constitutional provisions since Kastigar held that only use immunity is required" (A. 2-3).

With regard to Petitioner's argument that Florida's right to privacy requires transactional immunity, the court concluded that the right of privacy does not arise unless a person has a legitimate expectation of privacy and that no such legitimate expectation exists in this case (A. 3). It rejected Petitioner's

contention that the "slight" difference in wording between the federal and Florida self-incrimination provisions would imply a requirement that immunity be transactional (A. 3). It simply noted that the Florida provision was "worded" broader (A. 3).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision below does not expressly hold valid a state statute or construe a constitutional provision. Thus, this Court should decline certiorari jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

THE FOURTH DISTRICT DID NOT EXPRESSLY DECLARE A STATUTE VALID OR EXPRESSLY CONSTRUE A CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION.

Petitioner claims that this Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the Fourth District's decision based on Article V Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(I), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. However, the Fourth District did not expressly declare valid a state statute. Rather, it merely held that Petitioner's constitutional attacks were without merit.

"Expressly" is defined as "in an express manner," and
"express" means "to represent in words" or "to give expression
to." Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980). Below,
the Fourth District never stated that section 941.04 was valid or
constitutional. Instead, citing to Kastigar, the court simply
stated that the State is not required to offer transactional
immunity (A. 2). It then cited to Florida case law and said that
transactional immunity is a creature of statute "and does not
implicate any constitutional provisions since Kastigar held that
only use immunity is required" (A. 2-3).

Hence, the Fourth District only applied established precedent in considering Petitioner's arguments and determined that the type of immunity to be provided was a matter for the legislature. This Court does not obtain jurisdiction on the

Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Brautigam, 121 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 1960). And, this Court does not have the jurisdiction to consider an appeal which does not fall within any area of jurisdiction as delineated by the constitution. Carmazi v. Board of County Com'rs of Dade County, 104 So. 2d 727, 728 (Fla. 1958).

The cases cited by Petitioner as analogous examples in support of jurisdiction are distinguishable from the instant case. In City of Fort Lauderdale v. Ilkanic, 683 So. 2d 563, 564 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) and State v. Tal-Mason, 492 So. 2d 1179, 1179 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), the district court specifically stated that the trial courts had declared that the statutes in question violated the constitution and then expressly rejected the trial courts' determinations and reversed their decisions.

In <u>Libertarian Party of Florida v. Smith</u>, 665 So. 2d 1119 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), the court expressly held the statute valid. It referred to the statute in question as "[t]he statute under attack," set out standards for reviewing the statute, applied those standards, concluded that the statute was reasonably related to the state's interest, rejected the appellant's attack, and decided to "uphold the challenged provision." 665 So. 2d at 1121-1122. Similarly, the court in <u>Brown v. State</u>, 610 So. 2d 1356, 1357 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) succinctly stated, "We reject appellant's argument that the subject statute is

unconstitutional," and then affirmed the judgment and sentence. It expressly disagreed with the appellant's challenge to the statute that it was not rationally related to a legitimate objective, concluding, "We find that the distance classification in the subject statute is a reasonable means of achieving this objective." 610 So. 2d at 1358. Comparing the statute to a like one previously upheld, the court added, "We believe the statute at issue provides similar protection for children and adult tenants of public housing." Id. at 1359.

Petitioner next claims that this Court has jurisdiction by way of Article V, Section (3)(b)(3), Florida Constitution and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

The Fourth District, though, did not expressly construe a constitutional provision. The Fourth District, citing to Florida precedent, said that transactional immunity is a creature of statute "and does not implicate any constitutional provisions since Kastigar held that only use immunity is required" (A. 2-3). In other words, the Fourth District determined that Florida case law, including DeBock v. State, 512 So. 2d 164 (1987), indicated that the type of immunity to be afforded was a matter for the legislature and did not implicate the constitution (A. 2-3). Indeed, citing to Kastigar, the court had already stated that the State is not required to offer transactional immunity (A. 2). Application of a recognized constitutional provision does not

fall within this Court's discretionary jurisdiction because "Applying is not synonymous with Construing." See Rojas v. State, 288 So. 2d 234, 236 (Fla. 1973); Page v. State, 113 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 1959).

With regard to Petitioner's argument that Florida's right to privacy requires transactional immunity, the Fourth District concluded that the right of privacy does not arise unless a person has a legitimate expectation of privacy and that no such legitimate expectation exists in this case (A. 3). The court, therefore, determined that the privacy clause was not at issue, so that there was no opportunity to construe the provision.

Jurisdiction does not arise by virtue of the applicability, or inapplicability, of a provision. See Armstrong v. City of Tampa, 106 So. 2d 407, 410 (Fla. 1958).

The Fourth District rejected Petitioner's contention that the "slight" difference in wording between the federal and Florida self-incrimination provisions would imply a requirement that immunity be transactional (A. 3). It simply noted that the Florida provision was "worded" broader (A. 3); it did not suggest that the scope of the Florida provision was likewise broader. So, the Fourth District did not undertake to explain, define, or otherwise eliminate existing doubts arising from the language or terms of the provision. See Ogle v. Pepin, 273 So. 2d 391, 392 (Fla. 1973) (definition of construe); Armstrong, 106 So. 2d at 407

(same).

Petitioner notes that other jurisdictions have held statutes unconstitutional for not providing transactional immunity. Two of those jurisdictions simply applied pre-Kastigar case law construing their state constitutions. See State v. Thrift, 440 S.E.2d 341, 351 (S.C. 1994); Attorney General v. Colleton, 444 N.E.2d 915, 919 (Mass. 1982). Moreover, many jurisdictions have upheld the constitutionality of use immunity statutes under their state constitutions. See, e.g., State v. Ely, 708 A.2d 1332, 1336-1337 (Vt. 1997); Ramona R. v. People, 693 P. 2d 789, 793-794 (Cal. 1985); In re Caito, 459 N.E. 2d 1179, 1184 (Ind. 1984); State v. Hanson, 342 A. 2d 300, 304 (Me. 1975); People v. Johnson, 507 N.Y.S. 2d 791, 793 (Sup. 1986); Com. v. Swinehart, 664 A. 2d 957, 969 (Pa. 1995); Ex Parte Wilkinson, 641 S.W. 2d 927, 929-930 (Tex. Crim. App. 1982); Gosling v. Com., 415 S.E. 2d 870, 873 (Va. App. 1992).

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, Petitioner respectfully requests this Honorable Court to DENY the petition for certiorari review.